FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/26/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1038984

NO. 87074-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LYUBOV ANDRYUSHINA, PETITIONER

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

By Steven L. Busick, WSBA #1643 Law Office of Steven L. Busick, PLLC PO Box 1385 Vancouver, WA 98666 Ph. (360)696-0228 Attorney for Petitioner

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 16
F.	CONCLUSION
Ap	pendix A, Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, dated January 27, 2025
Ap	pendix B, Department of Labor and Industries proposed Jury Instruction No. 3.
Ap	pendix C, Petitioner's proposed Jury Instruction No. 3
•	pendix D, In re Donald Plemmons, BIIA Dec., 04 12018 05)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Lyubov Andryushina seeks review in the Supreme Court of the State of Washington of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review in part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, dated January 27, 2025, affirming a decision of the Superior Court of Clark County. A copy of the Unpublished Opinion is attached as Appendix A, pages 1 through 6.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court error in giving the Department of Labor and Industries proposed Instruction No. 3 to the jury, copy attached as Appendix B, as opposed to Ms. Andryushina's proposed Instruction No. 3, attached as Appendix C.

The difference between the two instructions is that the Department included findings at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals as Findings 1 and 2 related to a prior work injury of Ms. Andryushina, which was not at issue in the case. The only issue before the Board and the trial court was whether Ms. Andryushina experienced an occupational disease arising naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions at her employment after she returned to work pursuant to RCW 51.08.140 under the Industrial Insurance Act, Title 51.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lyubov Andryushina is an immigrant from Russia who testified through an interpreter at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. She had been working as a spinner for Pendleton Woolen Mills in Washougal, Washington, since 1998. She worked with large machines that spin wool into thread to make clothing and blankets. She had a stroke the previous year,

and was working light duty with assistance.

Then on August 15, 2018, she was stepping up onto the platform of one of her wool machines, called frames. The handrail to the machine was loose, she fell between two frames to her knees twisting her right arm and shoulder. She continued working to the end of her shift and for the next two days with some discomfort. CP 5, Certified Appeal Board Record, page 62, line 8; page 63, lines 21 and 25; page 64; lines 6, 12 and 18; page 65, lines 1, 11, 22 and 24; page 66, lines 5, 16 and 24; and page 67, lines 2, 7 and 11.

Ms. Andryushina did not go to a doctor right away, because she was hoping her shoulder would heal on its own. Her oldest daughter, Nellie Kovalev, had gone to all of her mother's doctor appointments with her for Ms. Andryushina's stroke in 2017. After August 15, 2018, her daughter asked her mother whether she wanted to go to emergency, but her mother already had a follow up appointment with her doctor, Dr. Pavlenko, on August 20, 2018. When they went to the appointment, Ms.

Andryushina told Dr. Pavlenko that she fell off the frame, but her blood pressure was skyrocketing that day, and Dr. Pavlenko paid more attention to her high blood pressure. Dr. Pavlenko did tell her mother to use a heating pad on her shoulder and give it rest, and gave her time off work, but no claim for a work injury was filed with the Department of Labor and Industries. CP 5, CABR, page 67, line 18; page 85, lines 13 and 18; page 87, lines 1 and 9.

Ms. Andryushina had another appointment with Dr. Pavlenko on September 7, 2018, which her daughter attended. Her mother had not been working for three weeks, was doing better with her right shoulder, and her mother asked Dr. Pavlenko to release her back to work. From September 10, 2018, Ms. Andryushina continued working at Pendleton Woolen Mills, and was not complaining to her daughter about her right shoulder. Ms. Andryushina had one more appointment with Dr. Pavlenko in November 2018 before she left the Vancouver Clinic. At the appointment, Ms. Andryushina told Dr. Pavlenko that she was

using her heating pad and continuing to work. She was not doing anything after work, and taking one day at a time depending on the workflow at work. CR 5, CABR, page 88, lines 10 and 19 and page 89, lines 1, 8, 12, 18.

After Ms. Andryushina returned to work on September 10, 2018, she was servicing two frames by herself. Pendleton Woolen Mills would not allow anybody near her at work. The more she used her right arm, the worse her right shoulder became. She used her sick leave and vacation for two to three days off work at a time. She was having to lift spools of thread weighing 35 to 40 pounds on and off the frames above her head, several times a day. She was not able to bathe herself at home due to her right shoulder, and her husband was having to hold vegetables for her to cut up for cooking with her left hand. Ms. Andryushina decided to follow up with Dr. Pavlenko at Providence in Portland, because she could speak Russian with her without an interpreter, but she had to wait from November 2018 to April 2019 to get in to see Dr. Pavlenko. CP 5, CABR, page 70, line 1; page 71, lines 10 and 12; page 72, line 4; page 73, line 20; page 74, lines 2 and 14; page 89, line 23).

Ms. Andryushina was able to get in to see a nurse practitioner, Paula Mantei, at the Vancouver Clinic with her daughter before she saw Dr. Pavlenko again. Ms. Andryushina told Nurse Mantei about falling in August 2018, and she was hurting, but Nurse Mantei told her as she was typing on her computer, that if she wrote down everything that she said, she may not have a job at Pendleton Woolen Mills. Nurse Mantei was just going to keep her on light duty for now. No claim for a work injury on August 15, 2018, was filed with the Department of Labor and Industries. CP 5, CABR, page 89, line 23; page 90, line 7; and page 91, line 8.

When Ms. Andryushina saw Dr. Pavlenko in April 2019, she was complaining of pain in her right shoulder and Dr. Pavlenko gave her two weeks off work, but no claim was filed with the Department of Labor and Industries for an injury on August 15, 2018, at Pendleton Woolen Mills. Dr. Pavlenko went

on sick leave herself, and Ms. Andryushina could not see her again until August 2019. At that visit Dr. Pavlenko sent in the papers to Pendleton Woolen Mills, and they refused to accept them, stating that she needs to see a doctor in Washington. Dr. Pavlenko then went on maternity leave herself, and referred Ms. Andryushina to Dr. Upham at the Vancouver Clinic. CP5, CABR, page 92, line 19, and page 93, lines 1 and 10.

When Ms. Andryushina saw Dr. Upham in November 2019, she was guarding her right shoulder the way she was walking due to pain. Dr. Upham diagnosed Ms. Andryushina with frozen shoulder, gave her a cortisone injection in the shoulder, and released her back to work at Pendleton with no use of her right arm. Dr. Upham continued to treat Ms. Andryushina and sent her to physical therapy at the Vancouver Clinic. Physical therapy refused to work with Ms. Andryushina until she had magnetic resonance imaging, and the MRI was denied twice. CR 5, CABR, page 93, line 10, and page 94, lines 14 and 23.

Ms. Andryushina first saw Dr. Harold Lee with her

daughter on May 21, 2020. Dr. Lee is a medical doctor who specializes in physical medicine and rehabilitation and practices at Portland Adventist Medical Center. Ms. Andryushina had a stroke on September 1, 2017, that affected her right upper and lower extremities. She had completely recovered from the stroke, and had returned to work at Pendleton Woolen Mills in February with light duty restrictions. After the incident on August 15, 2018, she had returned to work on September 10, 2018, and Ms. Andryushina had to lift 5 to 6 spindles weighing up to 40 pounds above her head. The yarn on the spools would break and she would also have to change the spools. As time went by Ms. Andryushina had a lot heavier work to handle because she was assigned to the area where the yarn is thicker and the spindles filled up faster. CP5, CABR, page 110, lines 16 and 20; page 115, line 22; page 118, lines 8, 14, and 21; and page 119, line 21.

Dr. Upham had given her an injection in the right shoulder, which did not help much. She also had some physical therapy which did not help much. She had more pain when she tried to

exercise, and she had withdrawn from exercise even at home. Ms. Andryushina had pain, numbness, and stiffness in her right upper extremity, especially in her shoulder. She had been taking Tramadol for pain medication, and a muscle relaxer for her right shoulder. CP5, CABR, page 122, lines 1, 8, 10, 12, 18 and 21, and page 124, lines 17 and 19.

Dr. Lee conducted a physical examination of Ms. Andryushina on May 21, 2020. With range of motion at her upper extremities using a goniometer to measure angles. With Abduction, moving her arm away from her body, was 75 degrees on the right and 150 degrees on the left. Adduction, moving her arm towards the midline of the body, was 15 degrees on the right and 45 degrees on the left. Flexion, moving her arm forward was 80 degrees on the right and 170 degrees on the on the left. Extension, moving her arm backwards, was 30 degrees on the right and 45 degrees on the left. External rotation was 40 degrees on the right and 90 degrees on the left. Internal rotation was 55 degrees on the right and 80 degrees on the left. With motor

strength rating Ms. Andryushina had weakness on the right side as opposed to the left with flexion and internal rotation. CP5, CABR, page 125, line 13; page 126, line 21; page 127, lines 6, 10, 16 and 21 and page 128, line 6.

Based on reasonable medical probability, Dr. Lee diagnosed Ms. Andryushina with right shoulder adhesive capsulitis, or frozen shoulder, and rule out rotator cuff tear, arising naturally and proximately from the distinctive conditions of her employment as a yarn machine operator after she returned to work at Pendleton Woolen Mills on September 10, 2018. The diagnosed conditions originated with the incident on August 15, 2018, but were aggravated after Ms. Andryushina returned to work on September 10, 2018. Wendelin Schaefer, MD, and Sushil Sethi, MD, who performed medical evaluations at the request of the Department of Labor and Industries, and testified for the Department, minimized the incident that occurred at work on August 15, 2018. Dr. Schaefer testified that Ms. Andryushina's arm was pulled behind her, but she did not actually fall and continued working, and she mainly went to the doctor on August 20, 2018, for high blood pressure rather than the incident that occurred on August 15, 2018. Dr. Suthi testified that if there was a significant incident on that date, Ms. Andryushina would have gone to a doctor, and she did not have a significant injury, CP 5, CABR, page 176, line 5; page 229, line 13 and page 236, line 18.

A claim for benefits while employed by Pendleton Woolen Mills was filed with the Department of Labor and Industries on October 18, 2019, but not until October 21, 2020, did the Department reject the claim as an industrial injury for not having been filed within one year of August 15, 2018, pursuant to RCW 51.28.050. In that order the Department also rejected the claim as an occupational disease not coming within the meaning of RCW 51.28.140.¹ A timely notice of appeal to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals was filed on behalf of Ms.

^{1.} See trial courts instruction 11, WPI 155.21, Aggravation of preexisting condition can be an occupational disease. CP 39.

Andryushina appealing the denial of an occupational disease claim. Ms. Andryushina did not appeal the order denying the claim as an industrial injury on August 15, 2018, and there was no issue before the Board as to whether Ms. Andryushina suffered a work injury prior to returning to work on September 10, 2018. CP5, CABR.

Ms. Andryushina's appeal for the development of an occupational disease from her job as a wool spinner after September 10, 2018, proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before an Industrial Appeals Judge. Upon completion of the hearing, the Industrial Appeals Judge issued a Proposed Decision notice, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Finding No. 3 stated that Ms. Andryushina did injure her right shoulder and arm at work on August 15, 2018. Finding No. 2 stated that she failed to file her claim for injury within one year. Finding No. 5 stated that the work she performed after September 10, 2018, were distinctive conditions of her employment at Pendleton Woolen Mills. Finding No. 6 stated that her right shoulder condition,

adhesive capsulitis, did not arise naturally and proximally out of the distinctive conditions of her employment. RCW 51.04.140. CP 55, CABR, pages 30-31.

Ms. Andryushina petitioned for review to the three member Board, and two of the members denied the petition and adopted the Proposed Decision and Order. Ms. Andryushina timely filed an appeal in Superior Court for Clark County, and her appeal proceeded to a jury trial, at which the testimony before the Board at hearing and perpetuation depositions were read to the jury pursuant to RCW 51.52.115. Before the parties argued their cases to the jury, the trial judge gave the instructions on the law to the jury. A hearing was held outside the presence of the jury as to which proposed instructions should be given to the jury. The discussion centered on the trial court's Instruction No. 3. CP 39, Appendix B.

At the commencement of trial, Ms. Andryushina's counsel had filed a Legal Memorandum on Jury Instructions. RCW 51.52.115 provides that in worker compensation appeals to

Superior Court, the trial court shall advise the jury of the exact findings of the Board on each industrial issue before the court. Relying on Gaines v. Department of Labor and Industries, 1 Wn. App 547, 557, 463 P.2d 269 (1969), the word findings is construed to mean findings on ultimate fact on which the outcome of the litigation depends, not subordinate findings on which the outcome of the litigation does not depend. Ms. Andryushina's proposed instruction No. 3 which left out reference to a prior injury on August 15, 2018, number 1, and that Ms. Andryushina failed to file a claim for that injury within one year, number 2. Counsel for the Department of Labor and Industries argued that findings 1 and 2 were material findings made by the Board. The trial court decided that since there had been testimony regarding a previous injury in August 2018 that the jury might be confused without the Board's findings 1 and 2. RP 1-2, Appendix B.

The three member panel of judges in the Court of Appeals,

Division One, held at page 5 of the Unpublished Opinion that

findings 1 and 2 were material to resolving the ultimate issue because they were the basis for the Board's decision that Ms. Andryushina did not suffer from an occupational disease. These findings were material to resolving the ultimate issue of whether Ms. Andryushina suffered an occupational disease. And lastly, the findings were not argumentative or comments on the evidence. Ms. Andryushina contends that findings one and two were subordinate findings and should not have been the basis for the Board or jury's decision to deny her claim for occupational disease and had nothing to do with whether the claim should have been accepted as an occupational disease, and were argumentative and comments on the evidence in the context of an occupational disease claim. See In re Donald Plemmons, BIIA Dec., 04 12018, (2005), a significant decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals attached as Appendix D.

//

11

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

An appellate court reviews jury instructions de novo and reverses the trial court only when an instruction contains an error of law that prejudices a party. Jury instructions are sufficient if they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and when taken as a whole, properly inform the jury of the law to be applied in the case. *Felipe v. Dep't of L. and Indus.*, 195 Wn. App, 913-914, 381 P.3d 205 (2016). The issue here is whether the trial court in giving of Instruction No. 3 to the jury committed an error of law which prejudiced Lyubov Andryushina.

Because the trial court is also required by RCW 51.52.115 to advise the jury that it shall presume the findings and decision of the Board are prima facie correct, it is necessary to direct the jury's consideration to the Board's findings only on material issues. If the presumption of correctness applied to all of the

Board's findings, both material and immaterial to the issue involved, confusion would reign in the jury's consideration. Stratton v. Dep't of L. and Indus, 1 Wn. App. 77, 81, 459 P.2d 651 (1969).

Worker compensation appeals in Superior Court pursuant to RCW 51.52.115 are unique as compared to other civil jury trials in that the testimony before the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals is read to the jury, and the jury decides the issues in the case on a special verdict form. The questions are phrased in the special verdict form was the Board correct in making those findings. WPI 155.14.

Gaines v. Department of Labor and Industries, 1 Wn App. 547, 551, 463 P. 2d 269 (1969), held that the legislature rejected the appellate review rule on appeal from the board to superior court, and substituted de novo review as the method of review under the Industrial Insurance Act, Title 51. The trial court should construe the word findings in a manner that will best fulfill the expressed legislative preferences. If the board findings

are to be given prima facie effect by the jury are evidentiary or argumentative, characterized as subordinate findings, their detailed or argumentative nature may substantially impede or derogate from the ability of the worker to obtain de novo review of the evidence before the board. The practical effect of permitting evidentiary or argumentative findings, subordinate findings may well go far toward substituting appellate review for the rule of de novo review.

A subordinate finding on the credibility of a witness testifying before the board could effectively and adversely deprive a worker of the opportunity to reexamine the evidence in a meaningful way, and could have the effect of destroying the plaintiff's credibility, making recovery improbable. The board must determine whom to believe, but on appeal to Superior Court the credibility of the witnesses testifying is still an issue of fact for the jury to determine. The potential interference of evidentiary and argumentative findings can be obviated if the word findings is construed to mean findings of

ultimate fact. Specific statements by the board, in addition to ultimate findings of the board's view as to the evidence supporting the ultimate findings, recitals or summaries of the evidence, statements that contain evidence or arguments that support the board's ultimate findings, or statements that a witness is not to be believed are subordinate findings and should not be given. *Gaines v. Dep't of L. and Indus.*, 1 Wn App. at 552.

To the foregoing considerations, there should be added certain canons of statutory construction, that the entire statute should be liberally construed to advance the remedy provided by the Industrial Insurance Act, to conform to the spirit as well as the letter of the Act, that any doubt as to the meaning of the statute should be resolved in favor of the worker, for whose benefit the Act was passed. *Gaines v. Dep't of L. and Indus.*, 1 Wn App. at 552.

Findings No. 1 and 2 of Instruction No. 3 are evidentiary and argumentative findings. They are subordinate findings

detailing evidence and argumentative in nature. Whether Ms. Andryushina suffered a prior injury or failed to file a claim for that injury had nothing to do with whether she had met her burden of proof to establish by a preponderance that she suffered an occupational disease after she returned to work on September 10, 2018.

Jury Instruction No. 3 with Findings Nos. 1 and 2 does not permit Ms. Andryushina to effectively argue her case to the jury of occupational disease, in that the jury could not get over the subordinate finding that she did not file a claim of injury within one year for the event of August 15, 2018. The instruction is misleading the jury in that Findings Nos. 1 and 2 allow the jury to focus on the fact of a previous event, rather than what happened to Ms. Andryushina after she returned to work on September 10, 2018. When read as a whole, they do not properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. Stating that Ms. Andryushina did not file a claim for a work injury within one year is not applicable law. A claim for occupational

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