# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/28/2025 2:01 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1038984

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# LYUBOV ANDRYUSHINA,

Petitioner,

v.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 206-464-6993

# **

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

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Cases

Gaines v. Dep't. of Lab. & Indus. 1 Wn. App. 547, 463 P.2d 269 (1969)10, 11, 13, 14
Rothwell v. Nine Mile Falls Sch. Dist. 149 Wn. App. 771, 779-82, 206 P.3d 347 (2009)
Stratton v. Dep't. of Lab. & Indus. 7 Wn. App. 652, 501 P.2d 1072 (1972)11, 13, 14
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 51.08.1003
RCW 51.08.140
RCW 51.28.0203
RCW 51.28.050
RCW 51.28.055(1)
RCW 51.52.115
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)11

## I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves a routine examination of a workers' compensation jury instruction, with no issue warranting review. Lyubov Andryushina was injured in August 2018, but she did not file an industrial injury claim until after the statute of limitations ran. Because of this, she filed an occupational disease claim related to her physical condition at the time of her industrial injury and after. The Department of Labor and Industries denied the occupational disease claim in part because her symptoms were from the industrial injury, not a new occupational disease. Andryushina appealed and later objected to a jury instruction regarding the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals' findings about the August 2018 injury.

RCW 51.52.115 mandates the superior court to instruct a jury about the Board's material findings when a party appeals a Board decision to superior court. Andryushina argues that the jury should not have been told of Finding No. 1, which said Andryushina sustained a shoulder injury while working on

August 15, 2018, and Finding No. 2, which stated that she did not file a timely claim of benefits for that injury. Andryushina states no basis for review under the Rules of Appellate Procedure. And there is no legal error because the instruction was proper: it informed the jury as to the state of Andryushina's shoulder at the time of her occupational disease claim and avoided jury confusion by clarifying why the claim could not be accepted as an industrial injury. And it allowed both parties to argue their theory of the case: Andryushina could argue she had an occupational disease based on an aggravation of the injury, and the Department could argue her claim could not be allowed as an occupational disease because her condition was entirely due to her injury and not the product of an occupational disease. This Court should deny review.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the superior court properly instruct the jury on the Board's findings of fact when RCW 51.52.115 directs a trial

court to inform the jury "of the exact findings of the board on each material issue before the court"?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Background on Industrial Insurance Law

A worker who is injured at work or sustains an occupational disease may file a claim for industrial insurance benefits. RCW 51.28.020. An industrial injury claim is based on "a sudden and tangible happening, of a traumatic nature, producing an immediate or prompt result, and occurring from without, and such physical conditions as result therefrom."

RCW 51.08.100. So an injury claim is based on a specific event on a specific date, which immediately or promptly produces medical conditions. *See id*.

Conversely, an occupational disease "means such disease or infection as arises naturally and proximately out of employment." RCW 51.08.140. So occupational disease claims arise from a series of events or exposures over the course of a worker's employment, not from a single, traumatic event. *See* 

Rothwell v. Nine Mile Falls Sch. Dist., 149 Wn. App. 771, 779-82, 206 P.3d 347 (2009) (holding that a condition arising out of "a series of incidents over a period of a few days" is not an industrial injury).

A worker has one year from the date of an industrial injury to file a claim for that injury. RCW 51.28.050. And a worker has two years after a physician notifies the worker of an occupational disease to file a claim for that occupational disease. RCW 51.28.055(1).

# B. Andryushina Was Injured at Work on August 15, 2018

Andryushina worked as a spinner for Pendleton Woolen Mills starting in 1998. AR 63-64. As a spinner, Andryushina operated six machines, called frames, which spun wool into thread. AR 64-65. While Andryushina was working on August 15, 2018, she fell to her knees between two frames and twisted her right arm. AR 65-66.

Andryushina got back up and continued working. AR 66. Within a couple hours, she began to feel that "something really

did happen," and she reported her injury to a supervisor. AR 66. In the days that followed, Andryushina continued to work light duty even though her shoulder was painful. AR 66-67.

Andryushina had an existing appointment to see her primary care physician, Dr. Nelya Pavlenko, on August 20, 2018. AR 87. Dr. Pavlenko was most concerned about Andryushina's high blood pressure, but encouraged Andryushina to rest her shoulder and use a heating pad. AR 87. Andryushina took three weeks off from work and then returned to work. AR 89, 118.

From September 10, 2018, Andryushina continued to work, occasionally taking sick leave. AR 71. Her right arm continued to be painful. AR 72.

# C. Medical Professionals Disagreed on Whether Andryushina Had an Occupational Disease

In May 2020, Andryushina saw Harold Lee, MD, for her shoulder condition. AR 111, 115. At that time, the Pendleton mill was closed due to the spread of COVID-19, and

Andryushina had not worked since March 19, 2020. AR 122-23.

Dr. Lee believed that Andryushina had a frozen shoulder, also known as adhesive capsulitis, which he believed originated with an aggravation of the August 15, 2018 injury. AR 120, 137-38, 156-57. He also testified that her shoulder condition was an occupational disease that arose naturally and proximately out of her employment. AR 137-38.

Two independent medical examination providers examined Andryushina. The doctors disagreed with Dr. Lee, concluding that the distinctive conditions of Andryushina's employment did not cause an occupational disease and that Andryushina's work after September 10, 2018, did not aggravate her shoulder injury. AR 194, 229-31.

# D. The Department Found No Occupational Disease, and the Board Affirmed

Andryushina applied for workers' compensation benefits on October 18, 2019, over a year after the August 15, 2018 injury. *See* AR 54. The Department rejected the injury claim

because it was not filed within a year of the industrial injury.

AR 54; RCW 51.28.050. It also found that Andryushina's condition was not an occupational disease under RCW 51.08.140. AR 54.

Andryushina appealed the denial of the claim to the Board. AR 52. Andryushina did not contest the denial under an industrial injury theory, but rather argued solely that her condition was an occupational disease. AR 52. The Board concluded that Andryushina's shoulder condition was not an occupational disease. AR 31. The Board found that Andryushina injured her shoulder on August 15, 2018, but she never filed a claim relating to that industrial injury. See AR 31. The Board determined that Andryushina's ongoing symptoms were caused by the injury and not by any further aggravation caused by her work. AR 30.

E. The Superior Court Instructed the Jury on the Board's Findings, the Jury Agreed with the Department, and the Court of Appeals Affirmed

Andryushina appealed the Board's decision to the superior court. CP 1. The superior court gave an instruction to the jury, Instruction No. 3, regarding the Board's findings. CP 51.

The Board made six findings of fact. AR 30-31. RCW 51.52.115 requires the superior court to instruct the jury of the Board's findings. Jury Instruction No. 3 informed the jury of the Board's findings numbered 2 through 6; it omitted reference to the Board's first finding of fact, as that finding was purely procedural and irrelevant to the merits of the case. *See* CP 51. To avoid confusion, Instruction No. 3 renumbered the Board's five remaining findings as follows:

1. On August 15, 2018, Lyubov Andryushina injured her right shoulder and arm during the course of her employment when she lost her balance while reaching for a loose handrail and fell between the metal frames onto her knees while twisting her right arm and shoulder.

- 2. Lyubov Andryushina did not file an application for benefits within a year of her right shoulder injury on August 15, 2018.
- 3. Lyubov Andryushina worked as a spinner at a woolen mill for approximately 17 years before August 15, 2018. Her job consisted of monitoring machines that made wool line or thread to be made into fabric.
- 4. During the course of a workday, Lyubov Andryushina would lift spools of line weighing 35 to 40 pounds off a holder, which involved reaching above her shoulders. These spool changes occurred between 20 to 40 times in a shift on average and were distinctive conditions of her employment.
- 5. Lyubov Andryushina's right shoulder condition and/or right shoulder adhesive capsulitis did not arise naturally and proximately out of the distinctive conditions of her employment.
- CP 51. Andryushina argued that Findings Nos. 1 and 2 in Instruction No. 3 were not material findings to the Board's decision, and she offered her own version of Instruction No. 3, which excluded Findings Nos. 1 and 2. CP 2-4, 31.

The superior court found the Department's proposed instruction to be appropriate. The superior court thought the jury would be confused without the inclusion of Findings Nos.

1 and 2 because of the testimony relating to industrial injury and occupational disease. Am. RP (Vol I.) 5, 7. And the superior court found that *Gaines v. Dep't. of Lab. & Indus.*, 1 Wn. App. 547, 463 P.2d 269 (1969), was distinguishable: the *Gaines* Court excluded a Board finding about the witness's credibility, whereas the findings at issue in Andryushina's case were "not that kind of finding of fact." Am. RP (Vol I.) 7.

The superior court used the Department's version of Instruction No. 3, which included Findings Nos. 1 through 5 and the instruction that "By informing you of these findings the court does not intend to express any opinion on the correctness or incorrectness of the Board's findings." CP 51.

After hearing the same testimony that was presented at the Board, the jury returned its verdict affirming the Board's decision. CP 66.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the verdict in an unpublished opinion. *Andryushina v. Dep't. of Lab. & Indus*. No. 87074-2-1, slip op. at 6 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 27, 2025)

(unpublished). The Court of Appeals held that the findings of fact were not impermissibly argumentative or harmful to Andryushina's credibility, so they were not to be excluded under *Gaines* or *Stratton v. Dep't. of Lab. & Indus.*, 7 Wn. App. 652, 501 P.2d 1072 (1972), cases upon which Andryushina relied. *Andryushina*, slip op. at 5. The court further held that the findings were material because they were the basis for the decision by the Board that Andryushina did not sustain an occupational disease. *Id.* The court concluded that the superior court properly instructed the jury about the findings. *Id.* at 5-6.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The superior court properly instructed the jury about the Board's findings as required by RCW 51.52.115. Andryushina has stated no reason for this Court's review under the Rules of Appellate Procedure, and no such reason exists. *See* RAP 13.4(b). Andryushina argues that the Board's Findings Nos. 1 and 2 should not have been instructed to the jury because they involved an industrial injury, not an occupational disease. Pet.

2, 20. But the injury was a key event in the evidence that that the jury had to consider, and it would have confused the jury to not instruct them about it. Without the instruction, the jury might have believed that it could find for Andryushina based on the injury, even though it is undisputed that she did not file a timely claim for an industrial injury. As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, the superior court properly instructed the jury about the Board's findings, and this Court's review is not warranted.

# A. Review Is Not Warranted Because RCW 51.52.115 Requires the Jury to Be Instructed on the Board's Material Findings

Under the plain language of RCW 51.52.115, when a decision of the Board has been appealed to superior court, and the case is tried before a jury, the court shall "advise the jury of the exact findings of the board on each material issue before the court." The sole issue is whether Findings Nos. 1 and 2 relate to material issues in Andryushina's case. Pet. 19-20. Andryushina argues that the findings about the industrial injury were

subordinate findings that were argumentative in nature and therefore should not have been offered to the jury. Pet. 19-20.

Subordinate findings that are argumentative and go to the claimant's credibility should not be submitted to the jury. Gaines, 1 Wn. App. at 548, 551-52 (rejecting instruction as attacking the claimant's credibility where the finding stated that the claimant had "purposely misrepresented his physical condition, his physical limitations, and the extent of his pain, to such an extent as to discredit his subjective complaints, except as the same were born out by objective findings of the doctors"); see also Stratton, 7 Wn. App. at 654 (rejecting instruction as attacking the claimant's credibility where the finding stated that "[a]ssociated with this psychiatric disorder is a demonstrated lack of motivation in the claimant to seek out and maintain gainful employment, coupled with a strong tendency and desire to realize a monetary gain from his injury").

Unlike the findings at issue in *Gaines* and *Stratton*, and contrary to Andryushina's characterization, see Pet. 18, nothing about Findings Nos. 1 or 2 was an attack on Andryushina's credibility. Instead, they objectively stated findings of fact on material issues to the case without any shading: namely, that Andryushina injured her right shoulder and arm on August 15, 2018, and that she did not file a claim within one year of that injury. CP 51. Both findings related to material issues before the court. Specifically, they related to whether Andryushina's symptoms were caused by the claimed occupational disease or whether they were caused by the previous injury, and if the symptoms were caused by the injury, whether the claim was timely. Therefore, as the Court of Appeals concluded, the superior court correctly instructed the jury on these findings, and this Court's review is not warranted.

# B. Review Is Not Warranted Because the Instructions Allowed Each Party to Argue Their Theory of the Case

Andryushina argues that the question of whether there was an industrial injury had nothing to do with her claim that she had an occupational disease. Pet. 20. She is incorrect. The jury instructions, as given, allowed each party to argue their theory of the case.

After Andryushina failed to timely file a claim relating to her industrial injury, she sought coverage of the same symptoms and conditions by labeling them as an occupational disease. This was the Department's theory of the case:

Andryushina's claim could not be properly allowed as an occupational disease claim because her condition was entirely due to her injury and was not the product of an occupational disease. Explaining that there was not a timely industrial injury claim would inform the jury that they could not find for Andryushina on any claim arising from an asserted industrial

injury. It prevented the jury from making an error of law based on an incorrect understanding of the issues.

Conversely, under Andryushina's theory of the case, the industrial injury to her shoulder in August 2018 created a pre-existing condition. Her theory was that continuing to work after September 2018 aggravated that condition, which made her situation appropriate for acceptance as an occupational disease claim. She was able to argue this theory from the jury instructions. CP 59. Jury Instruction No. 11 instructed the jury that if, at the time of the occupational disease, Andryushina had a symptomatic condition that was made worse by the occupational disease, she may be eligible for treatment. CP 59.

Besides allowing both parties to argue their theories of the case, Instruction No. 3 assisted the jury by preventing confusion. Upon hearing testimony that Andryushina had an injury on August 15, 2018, the jury would understandably wonder why Andryushina could not simply receive benefits for her injury. Finding No. 2 provided context for this, and helped

explain why the focus was on whether Andryushina sustained an occupational disease as result of her employment. *See* CP 51.

## V. CONCLUSION

The Department asks that this Court deny review.

This document contains 2,654 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.